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Interviewer: R E Merriam, 4th I and H

Interview with Lt. Col. John P. Wemple, CO, and Major Thomas W. Dailey, Ex. Off 17th Tk  Bn, 26 December at Division CP, St. Antoine, Belgium

____________________________________

17 December-
The Bn moved S thru Lingneville on the St Vith rd. About 1500 leading elements passed thru Lignenville. Billeting officer put D company on the side of the road to the south of

Ligneville at about 825936 to have flank protection for whatever might be in the vicinity (then unknown by the Bn).

The remainder of the Bn proceeded on to CR at 829918 where they turned W toward Recht. Bn CP was established at Exkelsborn, and B A, C, D and AG's were placed on either side of road
. Major Dailey didn't like the location, and placed the tanks in an open field as
 indicated on sketch No. 1.

About 1700 A Lt (name unknown) from the (?) FA arrived at the CP and informed the assembled that the Germans had blown the bridge at Lingneville. A guide from the 17th Tks was still in the town, and the enemy tank fired on him as he took off in his peep. (Man name Sgt Bruno Spiinski - he returned to the Bn about seven days later - Rcn Plat - man with him Christiansen MIA).

About dusk CO 17th decided to send C co, into town of Recht to outpost CCR headquarters which was there. The co. hadn't reached the town when Germans came in from the other road from Lingneville. Four of our
 medium tanks and six of our light tanks were bogged down immediately to the W of the RR underpass where they had attempted to maneuver off the road. The entire area proved to be extremely boggy and untenable for tanks.
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Major Dailey 17th Tk(cont'd)

As our men entered town they heard considerable armor on the W
 edge. They could see numbers of enemy infantry, many armed with bazookas. CCR had hastily pulled out of Recht. C co. decided the town was untenable without any inf to protect it so it pulled back to the Bn area. A defense was set up with main emphasis to east. The former defense was centered to the east.

One platoon of B co was pulled from position to edge of woods at RJ 828917. The tanks were outposted with the rcn plat of the Bn.

German inf moved thru Recht and established positions on the RR embankment. Sporadic firing up to 180300 when Germans started attack from Recht. A German tank came thru the underpass. It was a MK IV or V tank with infantry riding it
. It was hit. The inf baled off the tank. Enemy started to bring another tank through but it was taken under fire and it backed out. Small arms fire kept the enemy behind the embankment. All the ground from our positions to the embankment was open and the enemy had to expose himself coming over the embankment. Enemy armor was kept back because it had to go thru the underpass.

17th had no fo's or inf with it.

18 Dec

News came
 thru that Nrd Emmel had fallen to the Germans. Quiet during the day except for enemy vehicles on the way to Poteau passing thru Recht. 17th knocked out one tk, 2 personnel carries, 2 trucks, and a mortar position.

During the day a short inf company C/38 came to help.
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They outposted the left flank with oen
 platoon, the right flank with a second platoon, and had two listening posts, one on the right and one on left, and a small mobile reserve

of two listening posts in the woods to the rear. Inf were minus 2½  squads.


During the day two tanks of A co were hit by long range fire from enemy tanks which were in plain view about 3,000 yards distance. Could see tanks but they were at extreme range for our tanks; probably we were good range for them.

275th FA in support CCB was in woods just S RJ where B co platoon was located. (828918) Major Dailey made deal with them that they would outpost tanks with their dismounted security. The other tanks of B co were outposted by the rcn platoon and crews of tanks which had been knocked out.

That night the enemy came in hard again. Two tanks of C co were knocked out by bazooka fire from the infiltrating enemy. Next morning 2
 dead Germans were found 10 feet from one tank.
 One man's identification card showed him to be from 1st SS Pz Grenadiers. Attacks continued all night. B co experienced no attacks but heard considerable armor moving around Born. Arty was called for in Recht. The tankers adjusted the fire.

Communications during this time were thru the AG platoon with the south platoon of B co. No other radios could contact CCR. Supply was nil. CCR at Petit Thier or Ville de Bois.

19 December

Two fo's reported in the morning, had reached the
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Bn by following rd and trail (see sketch three). One was sent to A co - Lt Harry Collins, 440th - and other was sent to B co. - Lt. Schwarty, 440th. Lt. Schwartz was with a platoon of B co.

Before fo's came B co knocked out volkswagon and motor cycle and personnel carrier, and beat off about 4 dismounted attacks of enemy coming out of the woods to E. In main Bn zone we knocked out with artillery adjusted by tankers two of three artillery pieces following ambulance, and mortar squad knocked out enemy mortar positions in valley to W of Recht. (No enemy arty to this point).

Lt Collins, A co fo, called for concentrations on bridge S of Recht(     ), main CR in Recht, underpass. Fire did not come until early
 the next morning when it scared everyone until they realized it was on the town and not on them (reason for delay was poor communication with CCB). Said Major Dailey "it scared the living daylights out of most of us."

The tks were placed under CCB at 1312. Lt. Felton sent as liaison to get orders. (Notice of assignemnt
 to CCB much delayed in coming in as were messages from CCR telling of attack by CCA on Recht (never materialized).

During night tremendous activity by enemy in woods W of B co. Shouting, calling "hello", singing were reported. Much armor heard moving. Also H/T running down and between two B co positions didn't know who it belonged to. At 0400 much armor north of Recht. Burp guns fired from the RR 
embankment, and one AG popped thru the underpass. It was hit once and then withdrew. Our forces fired arty all night long. Said Lt. Col. Wemple "only the arty
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kept them out."

20 December (Wednesday)

In the morning CCB ordered 17th to move out. Move was begun at 0930 after smoke was layed on Recht and Nrd Emmels. We placed fire on several of our vehicles to the west of RR embankment to destroy them. The 3rd platoon of B co, - Lt. Mueller - took up new positions to SE 828915, 830914, 829916, and 829917. As our forces started to move out Jerry light tank came 200 yards to N of CR; he was knocked out. A German H/T was discovered sitting by house at CR. Fired on H/T and men ran out; fired on them and they went back in H/T. Finally they surrendered and the 17th took their (enemy) brand new track and gave prisoners to the infantry. B co. was to be the rearguard and was to fall in at end of column. No event on trip down trail which was only open road
, but CO was worried the whole time because if one tank had been hit it would have blocked the road and forced the other vehicles to halt. (See sketch # 3) It was impossible to get off the road because even tho it was high ground it was ????????? and other six inches under the ?????????

A co and 1/C/38 dropped at 814902 to contact 31st on right and CCA on left. They were to fill in a mile wide gap in the lines. The 31st was contacted and the coordination made between colonel Wemple and Col. Earlenbusch. Three men of C/38 were assigned per tank to give an element of dismounted security.

The rest of the Bn moved to vicinity Rodt without incident. Colonel Wemple was told to report to the 87th, Rcn Trp Cp
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at Hinderhasusen. In the meantime the Bn took up perimeter defensive positions around Rodt (see sketch four). The inf remained in the middle of the town off the roads. Major Dailey at 87th Rcn was told to contact 31st, and to relieve listening post of the 48th AIBn at 821898. Post had mg and AT gun.

Orders issued were to leave A co. in position and to assemble rest of Bn vic north of Hinderhasusen, but these orders were changed and the (text unclear) vic Bovigny to join TF Jones. A Co and 1/C/38 reverted to control 87th rcn. Bn getting ready to move at 1330 when Gen. Clarke called and wanted them to move at once which they did. Arrived Bovigny via Hinderhasusen, Krombach, Maldingen, Beho, at about 1500.

Orders issued by TF Jones were to send D co to Cheram, B co to Gouvy, C co and AG's to Deiffelt, all to reinforce forces already there (B sent to Gouvy because it was strongest and Gouvy most dangerous point). But after units on road CG ordered 17th to be held in mobile reserve, so forces chased down, turned around on the roads and headed back to Bovigny. Turned around on narrow roads and headed back on two roads to Bovigny. Then moved down to Courtil where could guard against thrust from either Gouvy or Cheram. (Actually thrust came at Cheram, but CG did not authorize use of 17th). Bn stayed on alert for night 20th and all day 21st.

21st December - 22 December
On alert at Courtil until 220300 when ordered to move immediately to report to Gen. Clarke at Krombach.
Continued in Krombach folder
Sketch # 1

SKETCH # 2

Route Arty Fo's

Sketch # 3

Route withdrawal

20 Dec
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As Colonel Wemple said, "it was snowing like hell and black as pitch. There was a lot of traffic but it was all going the other way". The Bn followed the route Maldingen, Braunlauf, Krombach. Inf left behind. Couldn't contact CCB by radio but finally roused 31st TK Bn, Col. Earnlenbusch who said, "come into town, have Rebel (Col. Wemple ) report to the CP". Col Wemple got the situation - we had evacuated St. Vith and taken up a line on the high ground to the W; there were serious gaps in the line N. In the absence of the General, Col. Wemple said he felt he should fill the gaps without waiting for dispositions so he placed his strong B company between B and C co's of the 31st (no infantry in front of the tanks), and C co on the right flank to the S of the 31st Light tanks. (Had about 20 mediums, 3 AG's, and 12 lights at this time.) D co. was almost at once sent to Hinderhausen to relieve the ground atk on Field Artillery.
 (Went up and screened the Arty as they fell back away from enemy small arms fire - 800 man patrol said to be in vicinity.

C co. got into rifle fire fight as it moved up hill. First foot reconnaissance was pinned down by s/a fire. A tank snet
 up to relieve it. Then as tanks came up, must have gotten too high, said Col. Wemple, because they were engaged by AT fire from unknown direction. Two hits, one tank burned, the other was disabled (check possibility fire might have been from 9th Armored in confusion). The rest of the tanks pulled back in defilade and the fire ceased.

Col. Wemple saw Gen. Clarke later in the morning and General had order for more tenable positions, with 17th on
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the left and 31st on right of road. Before this shift could be accomplished the entire force withdrew to a new line E of Krombach (see sketch five). C co had a line from the RR track south to the creek. For protection co's A and B of 38th AIB were provided. C co was in reserve behind the high knoll at 817860. Inf provided listening posts for tanks, manned AT guns along RR embankment, and road to S - about 100 inf altogether. B co was to tie in with 9th AD on right. Major Dailey talked with S-3 9th AD and made agreemtn
 that high knoll at 829849 would be tie in - patrol in the valley was to connect between two high points. 17th sent out patrol but it didn't come back until Christmas. Sgt. Buffington on right flank went dismounted about 1800 yards to the west to make sure no friendly troops would be hit by fire in that direction.

After dark the Germans advanced along the RR cut and knocked out the AT gun. Another tank came down the road, but came under fire and withdrew. In the meantime the enemy had penetrated to Krombach by unknown route. They entered the north and west edges of town. The AG platoon located in Krombach was surrounded by dismounted enemy personnel. No armor was noted. Bazookas fired at the AG's. Our AG's backed down the road toward Maldingen firing in front of them as they went. At some times they were firing 15 yards to their front. At the same time enemy AP fire was seen from the S, but no vehicles or guns were sighted. Sound of armor was heard to the left front of the company in the vicinity of Neundorf.

Col. Wemple reported that he needed support to hold
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his line to the W of Krombach or if they wanted him to retake the town. A request was sent to the 9th AD for a short company of infantry, but they were engaged in Neubruck, and the company was not made available.

23 December

Earlier activity with Germans in Krombach was about 2200 or 2300 of the night before. Early in the morning orders were given the 17th Tks to withdraw. B co. was to be the rearguard covering the withdrawal of all the forces. C co. (leading) started down the road to Krombach at 0730. The first two tanks by the main crossroads in town passed without incident, but the third tank was hit by AP fire down the road from Rodt. He blocked the road so effectively that the other tanks could not get by. The other tanks had been given an alternate route, and they immediately swung left around the corner and across country. One additional tank was hit in the sprocket as they swung across country to the south of Krombach.

After the remainder of the forces had withdrawn B co. tanks began to pull back. They started across country on route shown on attached sketch. Three of the tanks were bogged down in the soft ground, but the rest were able to move back out of contact. They reached the town of Braunslauf were
 they found dismounted Germans who engaged the tanks with small arms fire. Snipers hit two officers of B co. who were dismounted from their tanks (why?). The route of withdrawal was Maldingen, Beho, Vielsalm, Jeginvny.

In the meantime the mortar platoon abandoned its H/T's in Krombach (why?), and loaded on tanks of C co. as they
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swung around the corner by the church.

Summary
The Bn went into the engagement with 43 medium and 15 light tanks divided as follows:

 A-14

 B-14

 C-15

 D-15

Hq-4 AG's

present strength

 A- 4 plus two in ordnance

 B-9   "    "   "   "

 C-4   "    "   "   "
 D-12

Hq- 3 AG's

Personnel losses were 8 officers wounded and 22 EM wounded.

Killed and MIA?

TANK LOSSES
A:
14 tanks
1 lost
18 Dec



6  "
22  "


3  "



10 "
4 left

B:
14 tanks
3  "
23  "
11 left

C:
15 tanks
4  "
18  "


2  "
19  "



2  "
21  "



3  "
23  "



11 "

4 left

D:
15 tanks
4  "
18  "


1  "(M20)
19  "



1  "
23  "



6  "

9 left



30 lost.
Sketch # 4

20 DEC
Sketch # 5

POSNS 22 DEC
Sketch # 6

W/17th Tk Bn

Sketch # 7

Withdrawal of 17th


Interviewer : Lt. R. E. Merriam - T/3 Linnell Jones

Unit: 17th Tank - A Co
Date: 27 December 44

Interview with : Lt . Wilson, Lt. Nizinski, assembled company men
Sunday morning, the company left Germany and arrived in Recht in the afternoon, forming at 806935, just south of a railroad fill and underpass southeast of the town on the Recht-Weischen road. The trains were on this road, and there were two trucks in the town. The two in town were lost and others to the south were also lost. Three trucks were lost in Recht. Four members of a recon party which had been left at the bridge at Ligneuville were cut off and two never returned. There was no infantry with the tanks at this time.

At 3 a.m. Monday morning (18th) the unit was alerted. There was some small arms fire and enemy vehicles could be heard moving in Recht. C and D Companies covered the underpass all night. The 1st platoon was to the west of the main road. There was sporadic shooting during the night.

At daylight, the tanks
 picked out their targets and began firing. About 9:30 a.m.,  an enemy tank nosed over the embankment so that only its gun was visible and opened fire. Two tanks were hit. One was lost; the other received a shell on its gun which put the gun out of action but did not disable the tank, which was able to withdraw.

The tank on the embankment was fired on and forced to withdraw. About noon, two maintenance men went to the knocked-out tank to secure replacement parts, but were driven back by small arms fire.

Shortly after, the enemy tank withdrew, an enemy assault gun tried to force the underpass. Sgt Clem Piontkowski worked his tank into position and fired into the underpass, forcing the
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assault gun to withdraw. Two members of the gun crew were injured.

Lt Wilson pulled his 1st platoon back to 8193, and the second platoon was withdrawn to a nearby location. The 3rd platoon formed a road block at 811932 (Weischen). The line of the 1st and 2nd platoons ran between a house and a barn, from 809927 to 811933. Enemy troops could be heard in the woods during the day, but none were seen.

The tanks
 continued to fire on enemy units throughout the  day from these positions. Sgt. Peterson's tank got several enemy vehicles at a crossroads at 803947, and other tanks threw 15 rounds into a building presumed to be an enemy CP, about 2 p.m. About 40 men ran out, and later ambulances came up and wounded were carried from the house. There were plenty of targets in the valley to the west, and many tanks were seen. Six or seven were in sight at one time. The range was too great for effective firing (2000 to 2500 yds), and fire was frequently withheld for fear of giving away the tanks' positions, and of running out of ammunition. The units believed themselves cut off and wished to make every shot count.

One platoon of infantry was available Monday evening (18th), and they dug in along the ridge south of the embankment (see overlay). About midnight, an enemy patrol infiltrated through the infantry and approached Sgt. Piontkowski's tank, which was second from the left in the platoon's line. The patrol got to within 5 yards of the tank before Piontkowski could tell they were Germans. He opened fire, killed two, and saw patrol members drag off a third man who was either killed or wounded. He does not know what the men were armed with, since the patrol took the weapons of the two men who were killed. Neither the 2nd nor the 3rd platoons

(Sketch)
Route of Withdrawal
27 DEC
3
had any trouble that night.

The enemy patrol had left a sniper in a house at 908830 and on Tuesday morning several rounds were fired at the house, after which no more was heard from the sniper.

The tanks continued to fire throughout Tuesday on targets in the valley. On Tuesday night, artillery concentrations were called for and were laid on the center of Recht (797945) and on the crossroads at 804947. That night trucks got through with additional ammunition. Throughout the night, vehicles were heard going through the town and there was some small arms fire, but no enemy patrols were seen. There was some mortar fire on the units, and burp gun fire from the embankment.

Wednesday morning, movement was seen in the buildings near the railroad and these were hit by mortar fire. Artillery fire was also called for. The company got orders to withdraw. H-hour was set at 8:20, but the withdrawal began between 9 and 10 a.m. To screen the withdrawal, the floor of the valley was smoked. The line of march was A Co, Hq Co, and C Co. B Co was outposting. A Co pulled off the road and the other units passed. The 2nd platoon covered a line from 816897 to 820895, and the 3rd platoon a line from 820895 to 825894. Thus these two platoons covered a line of more than 1000 yards. A listening post was established at 825897, with a bazooka team just to the left. These units were under the 87th Recon when they went into position.

Two infantrymen were placed in front of each tank, and the town of Ober Emmels was outposted by a light (tank) recon platoon. About sunset, this platoon radioed that German tanks were approaching

(Sketch)
Mon-Tuesday
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and it was pulled back. On the left flank of the line were units of the 48th, followed by engineers and a platoon of 5 light tanks. The 31st was on the right.

The infantry was supposed to contact Lt Wilson, but failed to do so and he had to keep contact with the 31st. Wilson and Sgt Martin started out for the 31st and ran into a tank which could not be identified in the dark. It failed to respond to their hail, and they got out. Later, they resumed the trip and found that the tank had moved on. It may have been a German tank, but Lt Wilson is not sure. They found that the 31st was without infantry and it was necessary to run patrols over a wide gap with only two tanks in support. One tank was pulled back to 835894 so that it could throw flanking fire on anything coming over the ridge. Patrol members of the 38th Inf did fine work, except for two sergeants who took off that night and have not been seen since.

Thursday morning two tanks of the five on the left were obtained from the 87nd
. Since there were no infantry to outpost them, Wilson went back to the 38th and got his infantrymen back again. One tank was moved to 837896, and two light tanks guarded the left of the road.

Thursday morning the 3rd platoon pulled back over the hill when 88's first fired HE and then AP at the unit. Things were getting hotter all the time. Members of the units picked up guns and tried to observe where the enemy fire was coming from.

Thursday night was quiet until the artillery cut in. Then anti-aircraft opened up with 20-mm and 50 cal. Burp guns could be heard, and it was obvious that the Germans were attacking up the road. Earlier, the 2nd platoon had opened up on enemy units, killing one and wounding one. An artillery concentration south of
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Ober Emls was called for and is believed to have done a great deal of damage. The 2nd platoon met an attack across the field and held it off. In the 3rd platoon sector, German infantry started across the wood and the platoon fired on them.

Thursday night was the night the Germans took St Vith and then Rodt.

The morning of Friday, the 87th ordered the units to withdraw and take as many infantrymen as possible along. They pulled out about 9 o'clock. The tanks were assembled at 825894. The tanks had pulled up to assemble when 2nd platoon saw enemy tanks advancing from front and rear. Lt. Williams had to abandon his tank. Sgt. Sturtevant's tank, which had been partly disabled, was also abandoned.


The tanks lined up on the road with the infantry hanging to them - 11 tanks in a single file with Lt Wilson's tank leading. Up to 30 infantrymen were on each tank. Their orders were to move to the railroad track at 820868. The Germans didn't know what was happening. Their infantry was moving up at this time. Some Germans tried to surrender. It was foggy and hard to see what was what. Men were seen, but it was hard to tell whether they were enemy or Americans, so fire was withheld. AT fire knocked out Sgt Piontkowski's tank as it moved off. The tanks hit cross country as per overlay. The ground was boggy. Lt Wilson's tank bogged down and had to be abandoned. There was AP and MG fire.

When Lt Wilson got out of his tank, he signaled the others to go on. Sgt Saunders had to abandon his tank, and Sgt Wolfe's
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tank was hit, making a loss of four tanks. Lt Wilson and his crew got aboard a 48th Inf half-track together with about 40 other men. It went for a ways, then turned over in a ditch. Nobody was injured. The men proceeded on foot, picking up guns on the way. They found that Col. Boylen (?)
 had stopped the tanks. One force of 4 tanks was ordered to go to 810882. This unit took up a position overlooking Rodt. It was joined by four 90 mm TD's, 4 tanks of A Co of the 40th
, 4
 tanks F/87
, and elements of the 87th. (See overlay for location of units.)


About 3 p.m. Friday three 76 tanks came down the road from Rodt. One was hit by fire from an unknown source about 4:30 and abandoned. The other two pulled in beside a building. The 17th units withheld fire, and were about to send a runner to investigate when the two tanks turned and went back toward Rodt. It is believed that they were manned by Germans.

On Friday night two under strength platoons of infantry and a light weapons section of 3 mortars and 2 machine guns was brought in. Communications were very difficult and were maintained only through the radios in the light tanks.

That night considerable vehicular movement was heard and an artillery concentration at 793898 was called for. Diesel and gas tanks and half tracks could be heard coming down the road 2000 yards west of Rodt. The medium artillery opened up and is believed to have caused a good deal of damage. No patrols were met that night. It was very cold.
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Saturday morning the enemy had taken Crombach and had infiltrated to the rear of the unit. (Note+**** story about service company which took up arms and knocked out 2 tanks) The unit was
 ordered to withdraw. The Germans came in from Rodt with tanks, number unknown. Two were knocked out. One tank destroyer which had fired on the tanks was knocked out. One tank wouldn't start and had to be abandoned. The remainder pulled out on road to the south to 773859 where they halted. There were three tanks and three tank destroyers left. One tank destroyer was left covering the road over which they had come; one medium tank was moved to 771856, and two medium tanks and two tank destroyers were moved to 773870. Two men
 had been badly burned when the tank destroyer was knocked out, and first aid was given to one of the men. First aid was being given to the other and breakfast was being eaten when word came to withdraw further. The unit went to Commanster. There they found the remainder of the task force. This was between 1130 and 1200. A stand was made at Commanster when German tanks came up the road from the east. One tank and one tank destroyer was lost, leaving two tank destroyers and two tanks. The unit retreated west, stopping at 7388 where a road block was set up with a platoon of the 38th Infantry. The tanks were sent back toward Commanster to reconnoiter and it was found that the Germans had set up their own road block. It was just getting dark. Only a few infantry stragglers were available, but the unit outposted as best it could. That night the spot was pounded by American artillery. Division Hq could not be reached by radio. This little unit was the only element between the enemy and division headquarters that night. At 8 p.m. the order came through to withdraw. The two tanks and the two
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tank destroyers proceeded to Vielsalm, then to Trois Ponts, west to Werbomont, north to Harze and then west to the battalion headquarters at Les Baty, arriving at 4 o'clock Sunday morning.

(Sketch)
H H
 around Fri - Sat RODT

Interviewer: T/3 Linnell Jones, 4th I and H
Unit:
17th TANK BN - COMPANY B

Date:
(28 Dec 44)

Interview with:
Lt Richard A Hardin, CO
_________________________________________________________________________________________
Sunday, 17 Dec

Company B left Ubach, Germany, 17 Dec with 1st and 2nd platoons at full strength, but with only a few men from the 3rd platoon. The company had 14 tanks. Nobody in the company knew where it was going or what was in store for it. T/4 Frank A Swantack said, "there were all sorts of rumors floating around. Nobody knew anything about the breakthrough, and the reports got around that the outfit was being pulled back and was going to be sent home and then to the Pacific."

The company went through Ligneuville with the rest of the battalion and then turned south toward Ndr Emmels while the rest of the battalion went west toward Recht.
 The company first stopped south of Ligneuville at about 825936. The time was between 1400 and 1430. Sections of the 1st and 2nd platoons were sent as outposts covering north and east.

The company remained there a short time and then was ordered to outpost the rest of the battalion which was proceeding to a bivouac area just south of Recht. The B Company headquarters, the 2nd platoon, the remaining elements of the 3rd platoon, the trains and the maintenance crew were pulled back off the road to 824926. The 1st platoon, under Lt William Hoff, outposted the crossroads at 829927. At the time, nobody in the company knew of the proximity of the enemy and it was thought that the company location was adequate to cover the south and west.
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During the night, the 1st platoon heard patrols and some vehicles in the direction of Born. Apparently the highway from Born to Recht was being used by Germans as an artery of supply.

Monday, 18 Dec

Early Monday morning, scattered small arms fire was heard from the north, east and south, and there were both friendly and enemy vehicles in the area. Lt Hardin, realizing the danger, although no definite news of the situation was received, called out the 2nd platoon under Lt B. C. Mueller. At 8 a.m., the 2nd platoon was ordered to outpost the road north of Ndr Emmels at 826917, and arrived there about 9 a.m. It found that the road was blocked by a battery of 105 mm artillery of the 275th FA completely unprotected. Lt Mueller learned from is officer that other units had pulled out of the area, leaving it behind.

The 2nd platoon could hear a battle raging in the general direction of St Vith, and the 1st platoon continued to report the movement of German vehicles. Lt Hardin believes that the area west of Born was probably an I & R point (assembly area). The 1st platoon tanks fired whenever an enemy vehicle came within range, and knocked out several small vehicles, including a volkswagon.

A forward observer from the 1st platoon was sent to the 2nd platoon area, and he would deliver fire when necessary. Vehicles coming down the road from Born to Ndr Emmels could be
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spotted by the first platoon and fired on by the artillery battery with the second platoon.

Otherwise the day was comparatively quiet and remained so until nightfall. The remnants of the 3d platoon remained in the bivouac area with headquarters, trains and maintenance.

Enemy activity increased after dark. About 2100, the 1st platoon reported patrols of infantry and mounted troops in the area which seemed to be used as an assembly point. Infantry patrols worked their way on both sides of the platoon. The 2nd platoon had no contact with the enemy, but heard vehicles moving in the distance toward St Vith.

Tuesday, 19 Dec

Very early Tuesday morning the artillery battery with the 2nd platoon was ordered to move out, leaving the platoon alone on the road to Ndr Emmels. An anti-tank platoon from C Co of the 38th Battalion was ordered to set up a road block north of Ndr Emmels at 916829. This platoon had 3 anti-tank guns, 3 half-tracks, a peep and some machine guns. In the morning, S/Sgt N. L. Buffington of the 2nd platoon made a reconnaissance of the immediate front and flanks and found enemy artillery pieces about 2000 yards south of the road block, very well camouflaged, which were firing smoke in the direction of Born (Sgt Buffington is not certain about the town). No damage was inflicted and it was probably to screen enemy movement. The 1st platoon fired on enemy vehicles throughout the day and knocked out a peep, apparently killing its occupants, and also knocked out a command car. There was little daylight activity in the 2nd platoon area.
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Tuesday night the company had no dismounted protection. Two of the Anti-Tank detachment's AT guns were pulled back and their crews used as outposts for B Company tanks. From about 2030 on, the 1st platoon reported hearing very heavy movements of vehicles and increased patrolling by the enemy. The Germans knew that American units were in the vicinity but they did not know where they were. They shouted, sang, whistled and called out, "Hello" in an effort to draw fire and make the Americans give away their positions. The men withheld their fire, however, and radioed for artillery to bring down a concentration in front of their position. How much damage this did is not known. Half-tracks, tanks and smaller vehicles were heard in the area.

Wednesday, 20 Dec

Shortly after daybreak Wednesday, German artillery opened up on the area of the 2d platoon, but no damage done. About the same time, a German light tank came down the road and was knocked out by the C/38's AT guns, two which had been pulled back having been sent out to the road block again. At about the same time, a heavy concentration of German troops was seen to the south and heavy artillery fire was seen to burst in their area. At one time this fire came within 300 yards of the 2d platoon's positions.

The battalion began to withdraw from its area south of Recht about 0900. Second platoon tanks took up positions near the road junction northwest of Ndr Emmels with one tank to the north toward Ligneuville and another south of the crossroads, and the few buildings which made up the hamlet of Ndr Emmelser
(Sketch)
Position of B Co
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Heide. The southern tank of Lt Irvin Schulberg had just gotten into position when a German light half-track, carrying a lieutenant, a first sergeant and two privates, came up the road and pulled alongside a house just south of the cross-roads. The tank fired on the half-track, and the men ran out. It then fired on the men who re-entered the half-track, as if trying to make a getaway, and then surrendered. The 17th Battalion took possession of the half-track and the four prisoners were turned over to the infantry. The half-track was brand new; it had less than 300 miles on its speedometer.

The withdrawal was very orderly with B Company falling in at the rear. It began to move out
 at exactly 0925, when the Germans had all but encircled the unit. Artillery had laid smoke on Ndr Emmels, screening the movement.

B Company followed the Battalion toward Bovigny, passing A Company when it pulled out of line. When the unit was about two miles east of Bovigny about 1000, it was ordered back to Bovigny as a mobile reserve. It returned, then moved to the vicinity of Courtil where it bivouaced.

Thursday, 21 Dec

The company remained in bivouac until 1700 Thursday when it was ordered to go into Courtil to help
 a TD Battalion, which had been billeted in town, form a road block. It remained there on the alert throughout the night.

Friday, 22 Dec

About 1700 Friday, B Company was ordered to Crombach. It was
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snowing very hard and the going was tough. Just as the company got into town, Lt Mueller met a captain of the 31st light tanks who told him that the German infantry was manning American tanks and using them to fight our forces. B Company was placed between B and C Companies of the 31st (?38th/23d) Infantry with C Company of the 17th on the right flank. As the outfit got into position with the 31st, Company called and reported that Germans were heading toward their thinly guarded area. Col Wemple ordered the 2d platoon of B Company to support C Company and it headed back to Crombach with Lt Mueller in charge. Its mission was to move down a little road and contact the 9th AD which was supposed to have road blocks in the town of Neubruck. The 9th AD, however, had been cut off and never reached the town. The platoon was turned around by CO of C Company and rejoined its parent company.

The company was withdrawn to a new line east of Crombach in the early afternoon and got into position about 1500. The company does not have the exact line. The 1st platoon was on the left and the 2d platoon on the right. As the tanks pulled into position, the tanks of S/Sgt Bufington, Lt Hardin and Lt Mueller came under the direct fire of an enemy AT gun firing from about a 300-yard range. None of the shots hit, and the AT gun withdrew before the tanks could fire on it.

At about 1400, Capt Jack Howison had contacted the CO of B Company and told him that 9th AD elements were to the right of B company, but that there was a gap of about 2000 yards. He asked that scouts be sent out to make contact so that the 9th AD's left flank could be brought over to B Company's right flank. Sgt Buffington and T/4 Frank A. Swantack volunteered for the 
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mission and left about 1615. They were successful in reaching the 9th AD, but could not return at the time. Their story is appended.

During the night, the 1st platoon reported horse-drawn enemy artillery to their front in the direction of St. Vith, and a heavy enemy concentration in the same direction. After nightfall, large movements of enemy armor and foot troops were heard to the front and on the right flank. The 1st platoon used infantry from the 38th to outpost their tanks, and the 2nd platoon used tankers from D Company as outposts. Two tanks of the 1st platoon on the left had just pulled into position for the night when an enemy tank approached from their rear and fired two direct AP shots at one of the tanks without effect. The tanks tried to bring their guns to bear, but the enemy tank fired a flare at them and got away. The infantry and D Company outposts fired machine guns at patrols throughout the night and killed an unknown number of the enemy.

Saturday, 23 Dec

Early in the morning, the 1st platoon captured a German corporal who was identified as an SS man.

Shortly before daybreak, the Battalion was ordered to move back and cover the ridge two miles to the rear. B Company was to be the rearguard. C Company tried to go through a portion of Crombach, but one of its tanks was hit by an AT gun which had gotten into town during the night, and it was necessary to route the withdrawal to the south of the town cross-country over soggy ground.

The Company had been ordered to pick up outposts and all the infantry it could on its withdrawal. The first tank in the line bogged down in the soft ground. Smoke was called for, and the
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artillery threw both smoke and white phosphorous into Crombach, concentrating on a church steeple which, it was believed, was being used as an enemy CP. The unit managed to get the first tank out, but three others bogged down. While trying to get one out, the unit was subjected to AT and SA fire. This was at 812852. The Battalion Commander ordered the three tanks abandoned and the rest of the tanks took off.

According to Lt Mueller, "The infantry were all over the tanks- hanging on the sides, front and back. There were so many that we couldn't bring our guns to bear. But the infantry kept firing in all directions with everything they had, BAR's, M-1's, carbines. They may not have hit much, but they kept Jerry's fire down. There wasn't any fog, and visibility was good, but the roads were slick as hell and it was a problem to keep the tanks from sliding once we got on the roads."

B Company went on about half a mile, then pulled off to the side of the road where the preceding units had assembled. Lt Hardin went back to get instructions from the Battalion Commander. The tanks had only been in the area for a short time when snipers opened up. Two C company officers were hit. This was about 0900. Some of the foot troops made a fast reconnaissance of the area and reported that enemy tanks were approaching from the east. The Battalion Commander ordered units to move out as rapidly as possible. B Company pulled out after the other units with 25 to 30 foot troops hanging onto each tank. They went through two towns with infantry continually firing, and there was some enemy fire. However, only one infantryman was injured, how badly is not known.

The company got into a clear area, reorganized, and went on
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to Hartz, reaching there about noon Saturday, 23 Dec. A rapid check-up found that the men on the outside of the tanks included infantrymen from the 106th Inf Div, the 23rd, 28th
 and 48th Inf Bns, and engineers from the 33d Bn.

---
S/Sgt N. L. Buffington -- T/4 Frank A. Swantack

We were supposed to leave earlier, but we were held up by a battle nearby which seemed to be between Germans and some 9th AD outfit. We finally got going about 4:15. We were on foot and we carried carbines and binoculars. We stopped at our right flank tank and the boys there said a battle was going on down the draw. We could see the firing. Because of this, we couldn't cut straight through and we had to go to the west to keep away from the fight.

We worked around to the west of the draw. I couldn't say just how we went. Just sort of a semi-circle. When we were coming up the 9th AD side of the draw we were fired on by a mortar, but we kept going and finally caught sight of some 9th AD men dug in along a blacktop road. They thought we were Jerries, but they weren't sure enough to open fire. I asked Frank if he had a white handkerchief. Mine was OD. We hung it on the end of my carbine and Frank got a limb of a pine tree. We waved a white flag and the pine branch and shouted, "7 AD." The 9th AD men recognized us and told us to come ahead.

We found that they were just turning their AT guns around and were beginning to withdraw. We located their battalion CP and told the officers where the right flank of B Company was.
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Then we joined their recon officer on a recon of the road leading to the 7th AD right flank. Enemy patrols were coming up the valley we had just crossed and had cut through the draw. We had to go back, and the two of us spent the night with the battalion.

About 7 a.m. Saturday we joined the 9th AD in its withdrawal to Bovigny. When we got there, we went into a house to get warm, and waited there until our own outfit came by. Then we joined them.


Interviewer : T/3 Linnell Jones, 4th I and H
Unit:
17th TANK BN - COMPANY C

Date:
(29 Dec 44)

Interview with:
1st LT CHARLES D. CAGLE, CO

Material also from 2d Lt IRVING GOODMAN, 3d Plat

________________________________________________________________________________________
Sunday, 17 Dec

C Company left Germany the morning of 17 December with 16 medium tanks and one 105 mm assault gun. The company's route and its experiences parallel those of A and D companies except for the experience of Lt Cagle. At the time, Capt Robert F. Urbom was commanding officer, and Lt Cagle was heading a detachment at the rear of the battalion column. The line of march was Headquarter Company, Companies A, B, C, D, Supply, and Lt Cagle's detachment which consisted of a medium tank, a T-2, and a peep. He had 13 enlisted men with him.

The remainder of the battalion column passed through Ligneuville without incident. The detachment was somewhat behind the column and to the north of the town when German patrols came into Ligneuville from the east. Unable to follow the column, the detachment turned north through Malmedy, Stavelot, Trois Ponts, and Vielsalm. Lt. Cagle is not certain of the situation in Ligneuville, except that the enemy had the main route covered with fire. He does not know whether the bridge is blown or not.

He does not know the identity of the Field Artillery officer who first reported the bridge at Ligneuville had been blown by the enemy, but thinks that the officer may have been from the 740th Artillery which was in the vicinity of Ligneuville at the time.

Reaching Vielsalm, Lt Cagle turned east to Petit Thier and tried to reach Recht through Poteau, but was informed that the Germans had cut the road and had come into Poteau. He turned the detachment around, returned to Vielsalm and went to St Vith through Bovigny and Beho.

According to Lt Cagle, two men from the R and I platoon of the 17th Bn were in Ligneuville with two peeps when the Germans came in. One has since returned
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to his unit, but the other is MIA.

The detachment remained in St. Vith until Tuesday, 19 Dec, when Lt Cagle went to Recht with the acting commander and S-4 of CCR, two forward observers and two ambulances. This was when the two light tanks of D Company went to St. Vith. The detachment arrived in the battalion area south of Recht about 1300.

*** *** ***

The bulk of the company, under Capt Urbon, went on with the remainder of the battalion, arriving south of Recht about 1600. Temporary positions were taken, and a line was formed south of the railroad embankment. At midnight, the company was ordered to take positions in Recht to outpost CCR headquarters there. The whole company moved into town, the 1st platoon taking positions in the northern end of Recht, the 3rd platoon nearing the railroad, and the 2nd platoon roughly in the center of town. The Germans were just starting to infiltrate into the northeastern end of town at this time. There was some mortar, machine gun and small arms fire, and a few flares. Apparently German patrols were working their way between the buildings, but were moving rather cautiously. The main thrust against the town had been expected from the north.

Lt Elmo Olsen, the 1st platoon leader, established contact with CCR headquarters. Lt Irving Goodman of the 3rd platoon and Lt John P. Zannone of the 2d platoon were reconnoitering for permanent tank locations in outpost positions. Lt Olsen met them and told them not to bother; that CCR was clearing out of the town, and that C Company would pull out as soon as CCR's vehicles could be moved.

Between 0300 and 0400 the company moved back to the battalion area, the 1st platoon going first, the 3d platoon last. The company took up positions in the front of the woods facing the underpass to the right of A Company positions. In moving into position, the tank of Sgt Seton of the 3d platoon bogged down in soft ground and had to be abandoned.

A Company was on the left flank, C was on the right, and D Company was on the
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enemy vehicles. Lt Olsen also helped direct artillery fire on Recht.

The enemy did get three artillery pieces into town, but before they could go into action, our own artillery was called for, and it laid down a concentration which "not only knocked the enemy artillery, but also knocked down half of the railroad embankment," according to Lt Goodman. There was some enemy mortar fire during the day, but no casualties.

Tuesday night enemy activity greatly increased. There was a good deal of small arms fire, burp guns and some machine gun fire. The burp guns had gotten up to where the abandoned tanks were located, but they couldn't advance further. There was a great deal of activity and vehicular movement in Recht with enemy tracks and tanks moving through the town. American artillery kept blasting away at it.

Wednesday, 20 Dec

Just before daybreak. German troops and vehicles were heard to the west of the 17th positions, apparently trying to get behind the 17th lines and cut the one remaining escape road. About 0900 C Company moved out with the rest of the battalion. The trip out was practically without incident. A Company was left near Rodt and C Company moved on to Bovigny, reaching there about mid-afternoon. It was then ordered to go to Deiffelt, but before it reached there, it was recalled and pulled back to Bovigny where it set up a road block at 704825. Tanks were placed in position in the town and all roads were blocked. This was completed by 1630. There was no incident in the town except for a buzz bomb (or aerial bomb) which fell nearby about midnight.

Thursday, 21 Dec

The company continued to outpost Bovigny on Thursday. There was no action during the day.
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Friday, 22 Dec

At 0430 Friday, the company was alerted for movement and word was received that Germans were pushing the Americans back. The company pulled out and arrived at Krombach (or Crombach), taking up positions there about 0830-0900. A light tank outfit, possibly from the 31st, was in position there with woods to the immediate front. According to a captain of this unit, troops of the 9th AD were in the woods to the east. Three company officers, Capt Urban, Lt Olsen and Lt Goodman, went toward the woods to reconnoiter, and enemy units opened up on them with small arms fire. The officers threw themselves to the ground, and C Company tanks fired HE and SA into the woods. The small arms fire ceased immediately.

Shortly thereafter, troops were seen in the distance. This time it was assumed that they were enemy troops, and the tanks opened fire on them, causing some casualties. The distant units fired back and knocked out one tank and damaged another. The second tank was driven off but later had to be abandoned. This took place south to southeast of Crombach, but Lt Goodman does not know the exact spot. The time was about noon. He now believes that the troops were from 9th AD units, and Lt Cagle agrees, although neither is sure of this.

About 1400, the company was ordered to take up defensive positions south of Crombach and was in position by 1500. To the front of C Company tanks were of units of the 38th Infantry which had 4 AT's with it. To the right was B Company of the 17th, and to the left was the 17th mortar platoon and the 31st Tank Bn.

There was no activity until evening. Between 1800 and 2000, the company received a report from the 38th that enemy tanks had pulled up across the railroad tracks and were shelling the infantry positions. Lt. Olsen pulled up two medium tanks which fired on the enemy tanks. These withdrew. There was some small arms fire in the vicinity.

At 2200 or 2300, Lt Goodman, whose tank was on the left flank, saw infantry men pulling back along the road to Krombach. He hailed them and was told by a sergeant that the German tanks were approaching the infantry positions, and that
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the infantry was going back to town. Lt Goodman went into town and saw Col Wemple who ordered the infantry back to outpost C Company tanks. After Lt Goodman had gone a block or two with the infantrymen, they took off, ducking up side streets and alleyways.

Lt Goodman went back to C Company positions. He got within 20 yards of one of the tanks when he was pinned to the ground by burp gun fire. It let up in a few minutes' time

and he went up to the tanks.

****Here Lt Goodman and Lt Cagle indicate a lapse of two hours, and state that information concerning events of the period should be obtained from battalion headquarters. Apparently the tankers were out of their tanks when Lt Goodman returned, but at the end of the two-hour period, they were back again.

Saturday, 23 Dec

About 0230 or 300 Saturday, the men heard an enemy tank coming down the road. They fired six rounds at it. Two shots bounced off the turret and the tank withdrew. Lt Cagle thinks it probable that fire from C Company tanks injured the tank commander. Throughout the night and early morning, enemy infantry patrols were active,, infiltrating through the lines. At 0600, orders were issued to retire west of Krombach.

An artillery barrage came down in the company's area as it started to pull out about 0730. A shell hit the driver's hatch of the bulldozer No 2 tank and sealed it. The driver was not in the dozer at the time. It was necessary to abandon it. (Was this a tankdozer?) The tank which was hit by fire believed to have been from the 9th AD was also abandoned here.

C Company led the way back. Lt Olsen's tank was first in line and it got through Krombach, firing continually as it went. Then Captain Urban's tank was hit, as was the tank of Sgt Raymond P. Lloyd. T/4 Virgil Winnecki and Sgt Arthur Morgan were injured, and Cpl Elgin Loeffler and Pfc Robert Koythen were last at this time. They are listed as MIA.
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The other tanks pulled off the road and went cross-country. The infantry half-tracks couldn't get through the marshy ground and had to be abandoned. There were only four C Company tanks left. They met considerable AP and SA fire, but the mortars threw smoke into the town, screening the withdrawal. The C Company tanks carried the mortar platoon and infantry.

Near Jevigne, Capt Urban and Lt Olsen halted the tanks and got the men together to reorganize. They were out of their tanks to accomplish this when they were wounded by sniper fire. They had to be evacuated. Lt Cagle took command at this time, and the tanks moved through Jevigne and north to Les Baty where the company bivouaced.


Interviewer: T/3 Linnell Jones, 4th I and H
Unit:
17th TANK BN - COMPANY D

Date:
(29 Dec 44)

Interview with:
LT. VERNON FILES, CO

Company D of the 17th Tank Battalion, with 17 light tanks and 85 men, commanded by Lt. Lewis W. Scharschmidt, left Germany early Sunday morning with the remainder of the battalion. Recht was by-passed by all units after B Company was dropped off, and D Company located at the battalion headquarters area to the east of the road from Recht to Neider Emmelser Heide (see map).

At this time B Company was outposting on the Ligneuville-Nieder Emmelser Heide road; A, C and D Companies was and Battalion headquarters were on a knoll to the east of the Recht road, and the service company was on the other side of the railroad tracks in Recht.

About 1700 hours, two D Company light tanks were sent to the south to outpost the road to Nieder Emmelser Heide, and these took up positions at a small road junction between the battalion and the southern outpost of B Company. Between 1900 and 2000 hours, three D Co light tanks were sent into Recht to get the service company out. They made their way through the underpass. The first German patrols were beginning to filter into the northern outskirts of Recht. There was some small arms fire and a good deal of mortar fire in the town. All but two service trucks were gotten out. One, loaded with ammunition, and another, loaded with gasoline, had to be left. The three tanks pulled back to area A, and they remained there most of the night. There was no infantry to outpost the tanks that night.

Monday, 18 Dec

The Service Company pulled out of the area about 0315 Monday morning, making its way south by the same route as that later taken by the other units
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of the 17th. The D Company kitchen truck and supply truck went with it.

At 0400, the D Company light tanks were pulled into the line with A and C Companies. Their exact locations are uncertain, but the 1st platoon tanks of Lt. William B. Hammer were on the right flank supporting C Company, and the 2nd platoon tanks of Lt. William H. Cowley and the 3rd platoon tanks of Lt. George W. Fog were on the left flank supporting A Company. The tanks were placed both on the flanks and between the medium tanks of the other companies. The ground was very soft and boggy, and was particularly bad on the left flank. Seven light tanks bogged down about 0430, but three were gotten out without damage. One of the other four was in a position from which it could have been recovered, but it threw a track when the men tried to remove it and it had to be abandoned.

There was no activity during the night, but enemy vehicles could be heard in Recht. Patrols counted 17 buzz bombs flying overhead.

Just about daylight, all tanks of A, C, and D Companies were pulled back to better positions, but the line-up was approximately the same. Between 0630 and 0700, three tanks were sent to guard the underpass, but enemy fire opened up and the tanks were pulled back.

Three (some say one) enemy tanks with infantry on their sides tried to come through the underpass early in the morning but were driven back, and C Company knocked out one of them. Throughout the day the mediums did a good deal of firing, but the range of most of the targets was too great for the lights. There was some 88 fire, and there may have been some direct enemy tank fire in the area.

That night enemy patrols action was stepped up. The companies now had some infantry outposts, but not enough. Flares were thrown at intervals and there was small arms fire. D Company suffered no losses.
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Tuesday, 19 Dec

Activity quieted down at daylight Tuesday, but a great deal of enemy movement was observed on the road west of Recht. As many as eight tanks were seen at one time, going from west to east. There were some mortar fire and a few snipers were in the battalion area. The enemy began digging in either run or mortar emplacements on the railroad embankment. The 17th mortar platoon quickly took care of this situation, wiping out the squads.

About 0900, Lt Scharschmidt was wounded by enemy mortar fire and had to be evacuated. Sgt Joseph Newton was wounded at the same time, and Lt Hammer was slightly injured. These were the first casualties suffered by the company.

The two light tanks which had been outposting the road southeast from Recht were sent to St Vithto get Col Warren in the afternoon. They started on the same road leading west from Ndr Emmelser Heide which was later used by the battalion. On the trip out, they drew some small arms and armor piercing fire, but were not hit. They stayed in St Vith about an hour, and then returned with Col Warren who rode in a peep. Lt Files believes that the real purpose of the tanks was to test out the road.

After dark Tuesday, artillery observers were available for the first time, and artillery fire was directed on Recht. The A, C and D Company tanks were rearranged and their positions improved. The two light tanks were returned to outpost southeast of Recht. The crews of the four tanks which had been abandoned were formed into four squads to man machine gun positions. The positions on Tuesday night are shown in the accompanying overlay.
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The enemy attacked several times during the night but were unable to penetrate the lines. According to Lt Files, "Everytime Jerry tried to open up from Recht, our artillery came down on him like a steel blanket. The artillery lost the range only once and that was when they came in on us for about five rounds, but considering the way it had to work, that was really a very fine percentage. It was really very wonderful artillery. It saved us from enemy fire, and it may have saved our skins."

Enemy patrol action was heavier than ever. There was some yelling by enemy troops in an effort to make the tankers reveal their positions, but not as much as was experienced by B Company to the east. There were no casualties during the night.

Wednesday, 20 Dec

Late that night and enemy artillery burst hit directly in front of one D Company tank and damaged it. An attempt was made to pull it out, but this was unsuccessful and the tank was destroyed to prevent enemy's using it.

About 0900, the company pulled out with the rest of the battalion. The order of march was A Co, Hq Co, D Co, C Co, B Co. There was some fire when the battalion was leaving, but it did no damage. A company was left at Rodt, and D company moved with B and C to the west of Rodt where temporary defenses were established. D company was to the north on a hillside. It remained there an hour and a half, and then continued on to Bovigny, reaching there between 1400 and 1500.

D Company was ordered to Cheram and got there without incident, but was ordered back and arrived in Bovigny as it was getting dark. It remained in the town and outposted three small roads,
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protecting the battalion CP which was in the southern outskirts of the town. That hight, two light tanks were sent to Vielsalm to take battalion officers. They returned later that night. Lt. Hammer was slightly injured about midnight (time not certain) when a buzz bomb or an aerial bomb hit not far from an outpost.

Thursday, 21 Dec

The enemy remained on the alert in Bovigny. There was no enemy activity.

Friday, 22 Dec

Very early Friday morning, the company was ordered to Krombach with B and C Companies, arriving there without incident. It set up on the northeast side of the town as a reserve, but remained there only an hour when it was ordered to Hinderhasusen. No enemy activity was noticed in Krombach. The mission at Hinderhasusen was to relieve an attack on a field artillery unit. (Lt Files says he doesn't know what field artillery unit it was. Possibly he is just being polite. He doesn't believe there was ever a ground attack, and he is inclined to be critical of the CO of the FA unit for calling D Company away from Krombach.)

The CO of the Field Artillery unit was contacted in the town and he asked D Company to outpost Hinderhasusen while he got his CP out of town, and outposting was completed at 1000, as per overlay.

The tank destroyers were not available initially. There was a good deal of small arms fire to the east and northeast where the 87th Recon was retreating (D Company did not know this at the time), but there was no action around Hinderhasusen. At 1400, D Company was reinforced by a platoon of A Company with four tanks, and at 1430 four tank destroyers from C Company of the 814th, commanded by
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Capt Reed, came into town. Two TDs were kept in the town as a reserve and the others were set up to cover the east and the northeast in the direction of Rodt. Two light tanks were set up to provide communications and to outpost. Two medium tanks covered the two TD's, and two covered the roads to the northwest.

During the night there was no activity in Hinderhasusen, but there was a great deal noticed to the right in the vicinity of Krombach. Just before dark, three tanks were seen in the direction of Rodt, but the TD's were not in position and the range was too great. A small group of the 28th Infantry Division came into town and helped outpost. Four Germans came into the town that night and were captured by the 28th men and by men from D Company. Three were infantrymen and one was a medic. One was 18, two 19 and one 34.

Saturday, Dec 23

Immediately after daybreak, three enemy tanks, believed to have been Tigers, were seen coming up the road from Rodt. The tank destroyer covering the road fired five rounds. Two were direct hits and knocked out two of the tanks, but three shots at the third missed. The tank then got a direct hit on the TD, destroying it, and withdrew.

The recon cars and light tanks began to withdraw on the road to Commanster about 0800. An A Company medium, withdrawing south over a hill to the road, broke a track just as it reached the road and could not be moved. This retarded traffic somewhat. This was at 0900. At about the same time, a German tank which had worked to the southeast of Hinderhasusen, fired at great range before it was noticed. The shot hit a light tank around the sprocket and it had

D/17 - 7

to be abandoned. T/5 Jay MacDonald and Pfc Cash Williams were slightly injured. The 105 mm AG's (three left), did not go to Commanster, but were ordered to Crombach. D Company does not know their route.

The company was stopped just outside of Commanster by Col Boylan at 1000 and it pulled of the road to let another unit go through. D Company outposted the town. There was some small arms fire to east, but it was not serious and there were no casualties. An enemy tank, however, had slipped through the defenses to the southeast and knocked out a TD. The unit was in Commanster for an hour and then pulled out toward Vielsalm.

The company proceeded to 740874 where a road block was established. Col Boylan made a rapid reconnaissance and found that other units of the 17th were coming up the Jeho-Vielsalm road, and D Company was ordered to outpost. Three light tanks were sent to VielsalmM to cover the road leading south to Salm Chateau. At the road block previously mentioned, friendly artillery opened up and Sgt James W Lann and T/5 Victor B. Burden were wounded. When Burden fell, Pfc Raymond E. Johnson ran through the artillery bursts to him give first aid.

The company pulled out after dark, went through Vielsalm and reached Harze about 0200 24 December. It came in with 11 of the 17 tanks which had left Germany.
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Lt. Vernon Files, CO

_______________________________________________________________________________________
Sunday, 17 Dec

Company D of the 17th Tank Bn, with 17 light tanks and 85 men, commanded by Lt Lewis W. Scharschmidt, left Germany early Sunday morning with the remainder of the bn. Recht was by-passed by all units after B Company was dropped off and D Company located immediately at the bn hq area, at A.
(Sketch)
3.

A Company was on the left flank, C was on the right, and D Company was on the hill behind the line. Two tanks of the 3d platoon bogged down 800 to 100 yards southeast of the underpass and had to be abandoned.

Sketch

The night was very dark. Between 0500 and 0630, and enemy tank was heard coming up the road from Recht and through the underpass. Some men said there were three tanks, but this is questionable. The C Company tankers thought it was friendly and allowed it to approach. It came within 20 yards of Lt. Zannone's tank and fired four rounds. Lt Zannone's tank was put out of action and he and two enlisted men were injured.

C Company's tanks were then pulled back 300 to 400 where there was better cover and a better field of fire. Two more third platoon tanks and the assault gun bogged down at this time which was 0700 or 0730 - just daybreak.

� The typed words "as indicated on attached overlay" are crossed here.


� The typed word "also" is crossed out here.


� Christiansen apparently survived the war; he is not listed in the 17 Tank Bn deaths.


� Margin comment with arrow pointing to word "medium" at this point: "Was this on way in to outpost or earlier?"


� This could be an "N".


� The typed words "(See sketch no. 2)" are crossed out here.


� The typed words "came thru the underpass and" are crossed out here.


� Margin comment: "from where?"


� The spelling is as in the original.


� Margin comment: "Is this right?"


� The typed word "four" is replaced by the handwritten "2".


� Margin comment about here: "A co?" ("co" almost illegible on copy)


� Margin comment with arrow pointing to date: "Wh[illegible]?"


� The typed word "in" is corssed out here.


� The spelling is as in the original.


� Margin comment: "?"


� The typed words "(not even marked correctly on map it was so small)" are crossed out here.


� Text is illegible in the copy from which the transcription was made.


� Margin comment: "What arty?" and, in darker text, "275th AFABn"


� This spelling is as in the original.


� This spelling is as in the original.


� This spelling is as in the original.


� The typed words "Lt Wilson of the 1st platoon and other [illegible]" are replaced by the hand-written "the tanks".


� Margin comment by this paragraph: "Continued in Krombach folder"


� The typed word "units" is replaced by the hand-written "tanks".


� The typed "82nd" has the "82" replaced by hand-written "87".


� The paper is frayed away here. The last word appears to be "south" and "of" is inserted, since it appears likely to have also been on the missing paper.


� Margin comment to left of this paragraph: "Germans were behind our line at Rodt"


� The typed words "While the column was moving off, AT fire knocked out Sgt Piotkowski's tank." are crossed out here.


� Margin comment: "Boylan"


� The type "17" is replaced by hand-written "40".


� The typed "11" is replaced by hand-written "4".


� The typed "D17" is replaced by hand-written "F/87".


� Margin comment by this paragraph: "1) One force to Rodt" and "2) 0ne force to Hinderhasusen"


� This paragraph was preceded in the typed version by the completely crossed-out paragraph: "On Friday night two understrength platoons of infantry and a light weapons section of 3 mortarts and 2 machine guns was brought in. Communications were very difficult and were maintained only through the radios in the light tanks."


� The typed "units were" has the "s" crossed out and "were" replaced by "was".


� 814 TD Pfc. Paul H. Epsig (company unknown) died 23 Dec 1944, but it is not known if he was one of the two men mentioned here.


� Not sure if the handwriting reads " H H"


� Margin comment: "No" (could refer to this or following sentence)


� The typed words "its movement" are replaced by hand-written "to move out".


� The typed word "aid" is replaced by the hand-written "help".


� This is as in the original. It should read "38th".


� All of the text, but not the map sketch, on this page is crossed out. However, it is left in position in the transcription without crossing it out, so that it can be read. The text is the same as that on the typed page 1 of the interview. So this appears to have been crossed out simply because it was an earlier draft that had now been typed. Thus it appears to have been crossed out because it was redundant and not because it was in any way inaccurate.


� As with the previous page, the text here is crossed out and the map sketch is retained. This appears to be because the text had been typed into a later draft and thus was now redundant and not crossed out because it was in any way inaccurate.





